THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM UNION COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-000853

---

**RECEIVED**

**Apr 10 2023**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Dwayne Thompson, ..... Respondent,

v.

Rolling Fog Vapor Company, LLC,

Of whom LG Chem, Ltd. and LG Chem America, Inc. are  
the..... Petitioners.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS  
LG CHEM, LTD. AND LG CHEM AMERICA, INC.**

---

C. Mitchell Brown  
Rachel Atkin Hedley  
A. Mattison Bogan  
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP  
1320 Main Street/17th Floor  
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 799-2000

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that the underlying orders denying Petitioners' motions for lack of personal jurisdiction based on an absence of constitutional minimum contacts were not immediately appealable?
- II. In dismissing the appeal, did the Court of Appeals err by failing to reverse the trial court's failure to dismiss the case for lack of personal jurisdiction against both Petitioners in violation of constitutional due process?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this writ proceeding, Petitioners LG Chem, Ltd. ("LG Chem") and LG Chem America, Inc. ("LGCAI") seek review of the circuit court's orders denying their motions to dismiss.

On March 4, 2019, Respondent Dwayne Thompson filed a complaint against LG Chem, LGCAI, and Defendant Rolling Fog Vapor Company ("Rolling Fog"). (Appx. 00036-44.) Respondent alleged that he was injured when a 18650 lithium-ion battery he allegedly purchased from Rolling Fog as a standalone power source for his e-cigarette device allegedly exploded in his pocket. (Appx. 00045.)

On April 11, 2019, Respondent filed a Certificate of Service, asserting that service of the Summons and Complaint was effected on LG Chem through the South Carolina Secretary of State's Office on March 22, 2019, by certified mail. (Appx. 00045.)

On April 24, 2019, Petitioners LG Chem and LGCAI both filed motions to dismiss, supported by the Affidavits of Sung Han Ryu (LG Chem) and HyunSoo Kim (LGCAI). (Appx. 00104-00114, 00286-00292.) By its motion, LG Chem sought dismissal based upon both lack of personal jurisdiction and insufficient service of process. By its motion, LGCAI sought dismissal based upon lack of personal jurisdiction. LG Chem and LGCAI each filed memoranda in support of their motions to dismiss on September 18, 2019. (Appx. 00114-00127, 00298-00301.)

On September 20, 2019, Plaintiff filed an opposition brief with exhibits in response to both motions. (Appx. 00138-00295, 00310-00377.) The circuit court (the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr.) conducted a hearing on both motions on September 23, 2019. (Appx. 00046-00058.) Judge Maddox ruled from the bench, stating in his oral ruling that “I think factually, there’s not enough information to grant or deny at this point.” (Appx. 00057.)

Following the September 23, 2019 hearing, Respondent submitted proposed written orders (Appx. 000394-000395), which Judge Maddox signed and entered on December 6, 2019 (LG Chem) and December 23, 2019 (LGCAI), denying both motions to dismiss. (Appx. 00001-00004, 0005-0006.) Respondent and Petitioners disagreed as to the meaning of the orders regarding whether the case should proceed with discovery on the merits, and Petitioners jointly filed a Motion for Clarification or, Alternatively, for Reconsideration on December 16, 2019. (Appx. 00390-00393.) On May 4, 2020, Respondent filed a memorandum in opposition. (Appx. 00384-00389.) Judge Maddox entered his Order granting the Motion for Clarification and denying the Motion for Reconsideration on July 20, 2020. (Appx. 00007-00010.) The July 20, 2020 Order stated that discovery was for 90 days and limited to the issues of “whether the battery at issue in this lawsuit was designed, manufactured, and sold by LG Chem or LGCAI and the extent of LG Chem’s and LGCAI’s jurisdictional contacts with South Carolina. (*Id.* at Appx. 00010.)

Respondent served discovery on LG Chem. LG Chem answered in part, objected in part, and filed a motion for protective order on its objections. Respondent did not serve discovery on LGCAI. After the 90 days elapsed, LG Chem and LGCAI filed renewed motions to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction with memoranda and exhibits in support. (Appx. 00436, 00787.)

On January 28, 2021, Respondent filed its memorandum and exhibits in opposition to LG Chem’s renewed motion to dismiss. (Appx. 000442.) On February 1, 2021, LG Chem filed its reply

memorandum and exhibits in further support of its renewed motion to dismiss. (Appx. 00529.) Respondent did not file an opposition to LG Chem's motion for protective order.

On January 29, 2021, Respondent filed its memorandum and exhibits in opposition to LGCAI's renewed motion to dismiss. (Appx. 00792.) On February 2, 2021, LGCAI filed its reply memorandum and exhibits. (Appx. 00879.)

The renewed motions to dismiss and LG Chem's motion for protective order came on for hearing before the Honorable William A. McKinnon on February 1, 2021. (Appx. 00059.) During the hearing, Respondent stated he was not seeking more time for jurisdictional discovery. (Appx. 00094.) Based on that representation, Judge McKinnon concluded that LG Chem's motion for protective order on the scope of jurisdictional discovery was moot. (*Id.*) After oral argument, Judge McKinnon directed Respondent's counsel to prepare proposed orders denying LG Chem's and LGCAI's renewed motions to dismiss, which they did. (Appx 01036, 00626-690, 00951-01025.)

On March 2, 2021, LG Chem and LGCAI each filed Objections to Respondent's Proposed Orders. (Appx. 00691-00786, 01026-01059.)

On March 19, 2021, Judge McKinnon entered his Orders denying LG Chem's and LGCAI's renewed motions to dismiss. (Appx. 00012, 00020.) On March 25, 2021, the U.S. Supreme Court issued its decision in *Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial District Court*, 141 S. Ct. 1017, 1025 (2021). On March 29, 2021, LG Chem and LGCAI each filed Motions to Reconsider (March 19, 2021) Orders denying their renewed motions to dismiss. (Appx. 01100, 01123.) On April 21, 2021, Judge McKinnon denied the Motions to Reconsider in a Form 4 Order. (Appx. 00029.)

On May 19, 2021, LG Chem and LGCAI filed a Notice of Appeal. (Appx. 01237-01241.) On July 9, 2021, the Court of Appeals issued a letter requesting a memorandum addressing

appealability. (Appx. 01262.) On July 19, 2021, LG Chem and LGCAI filed their Memorandum in Support of Immediate Appealability. (Appx. 01145.)

On March 10, 2022, the Court of Appeals dismissed LG Chem's and LGCAI's appeal. (Appx. 00032.) On March 25, 2022, LG Chem and LGCAI filed a Petition for Rehearing. (Appx. 01265.) The Court of Appeals denied the petition on May 19, 2022. (Appx. 00034.)

On June 20, 2022, LG Chem and LGCAI filed their Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Respondent filed a Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari on July 29, 2022. LG Chem and LGCAI filed a Reply in further support of their Petition on August 8, 2022.

On March 7, 2023, this Court granted LG Chem and LGCAI's Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### **A. Respondent's claims.**

In this products liability case, Respondent Dwayne Thompson alleges he was injured on July 27, 2018, when a battery he describes as an "LG Brown Hg2 INR 18650 3000mAh" exploded in his pocket. (Appx. 00038-00039.) Respondent alleges that he purchased the battery from Rolling Fog, a retail vape store with its principal place of business in Spartanburg, South Carolina for use with his e-cigarette device (*Id.*) and that LG Chem and LGCAI designed, manufactured, supplied, sold, imported, and distributed the subject battery (*Id.*)

#### **B. LG Chem's motion to dismiss.**

LG Chem is a Korean corporation with its headquarters and principal offices in Seoul, South Korea. Respondent acknowledged this fact and conceded that general jurisdiction was not at issue. (Appx. 000014, 00038.) Respondent attempted service of the Summons and Complaint on LG Chem by certified mail through the South Carolina Secretary of State. (Appx. 00045.)

LG Chem's motion to dismiss was supported by admissible evidence, through the Affidavit of Sung Han Ryu, showing that LG Chem was not served through the Hague Convention and that LG Chem did not serve a consumer market in South Carolina (or anywhere else) for standalone, replaceable 18650 batteries. (Appx. 00109-00113.) LG Chem did not design, manufacture, distribute, advertise, or sell 18650 lithium-ion battery cells for use by individual consumers as replaceable, rechargeable batteries in electronic cigarette devices. (*Id.*, at 00011.) LG Chem did not conduct business with the retail vape store that allegedly sold the subject battery cell to a South Carolina consumer as a standalone battery, did not direct or control its actions, and never authorized the vape store, or anyone else, to advertise, distribute, or sell 18650 lithium-ion cells for use by individual consumers as replaceable, rechargeable batteries in e-cigarette devices. (*Id.*)

In opposition to LG Chem's renewed motion to dismiss, Respondent filed the same unauthenticated import chart he had previously submitted in opposition to LG Chem's original motion to dismiss to show that LG Chem had transacted business in South Carolina by using the Port of Charleston to ship products into the state. The import charts did not contain entries reflecting shipment by LG Chem of the same type of product (18650 lithium-ion battery cells) to vape stores or consumers in South Carolina.

**C. LGCAI's motion to dismiss**

LGCAI is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in Atlanta, Georgia. LGCAI is a wholly owned subsidiary of LG Chem and is a separate and independent corporate entity.

LGCAI's motion to dismiss was supported by admissible evidence, through the Affidavit of HyunSoo Kim, showing that LGCAI is incorporated in Delaware and has its principal place of business in Georgia, that LGCAI could not have manufactured the battery because LGCAI does not manufacture any products, and that LGCAI did not serve a consumer market in South Carolina

(or anywhere else) for standalone, replaceable 18650 batteries. (Appx, 000290-00292.) LGCAI did not conduct any business with the retail vape store that allegedly sold the subject battery cell to a South Carolina consumer as a standalone battery, did not direct or control its actions, and never authorized the vape store, or anyone else, to advertise, distribute, or sell 18650 lithium-ion cells for use by individual consumers as replaceable, rechargeable batteries in e-cigarette devices. (*Id.* at 000291.)

In opposition to LGCAI's renewed motion to dismiss, Respondent filed the same unauthenticated import chart he had previously submitted in opposition to LGCAI's original motion to dismiss to show that LGCAI had transacted business in South Carolina by using the Port of Charleston to ship products into the state. Respondent also submitted a copy of LGCAI's registration to do business. The import charts did not contain entries reflecting shipment by LGCAI of the same type of product (18650 lithium-ion battery cells) to vape stores or consumers in South Carolina.

### **Standard of Review**

Appealability under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2) is a question of law which the Court decides *de novo*. *Lightner v. Hampton Hall Club, Inc.*, 419 S.C. 357, 363, 798 S.E.2d 555, 558 (2017) (*de novo* standard applies to questions of law); *City of Rock Hill v. Harris*, 391 S.C. 149, 152, 705 S.E.2d 53, 54 (2011) (questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law).

“The question of personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant is one that must be resolved upon the facts of each particular case.” *Cockrell v. Hillerich & Bradsby Co.*, 363 S.C. 485, 491, 611 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2005). The decision of the trial court should be affirmed unless unsupported by the evidence or influenced by an error of law. *Id.*; *Hidria, USA, Inc. v. Delo*, 415 S.C. 533, 539, 783 S.E.2d 839, 842 (Ct. App. 2016). Errors of law are reviewed *de novo*.

## ARGUMENT

In this products liability action, Respondent Dwayne Thompson seeks recovery for injuries allegedly sustained when a 18650 lithium-ion battery he allegedly purchased from Rolling Fog Vapor as a standalone power source for his e-cigarette device allegedly exploded in his pocket.

LG Chem is a Korean corporation with its headquarters and principal offices in Seoul, South Korea. LGCAI is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in Atlanta, Georgia.

Petitioners never designed, manufactured, distributed, advertised, or sold LG 18650 lithium-ion cells for use by consumers as standalone, replaceable batteries and never authorized anyone else to do so. Instead, it appears that third parties have acquired lithium-ion cells manufactured by LG Chem (and other manufacturers) and diverted those cells from their intended chain of distribution (to be incorporated into battery packs with protective circuitry) into an unauthorized and unintended consumer marketplace for standalone, replaceable batteries used to power vaping devices.

Notwithstanding these facts, Respondent successfully argued to the circuit court that Petitioners are subject to specific personal jurisdiction in South Carolina under a “stream of commerce” theory. In making this argument, Respondent relied almost entirely on this Court’s opinion in *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 666 S.E.2d 218 (2008).

Due process is a constitutional limit on the power of a court to compel a non-resident to appear before it. Here, two circuit court judges reached contrary conclusions regarding whether the suit could go forward – both based on the exact same record. The first circuit court judge found there was insufficient information to determine that jurisdiction could be properly exercised. The second circuit court judge held that Respondent’s burden was met based on the exact same facts.

An immediate appellate remedy is necessary to safeguard the important constitutional rights at issue. Reversal on appeal after requiring Petitioners to go through a trial is not an adequate

remedy for deprivation of the substantial right to constitutional due process, particularly when the circuit court's decision was not supported by admissible evidence of constitutionally sufficient minimum contacts. The constitutional guarantee of due process is all but meaningless if it can be defeated by conclusory allegations that a defendant expected its products to reach the state.

As the Court of Appeals recognized in *Keller v. Keller*, 296 S.C. 411, 373 S.E.2d 692 (Ct. App. 1988), and consistent with the rationale of North Carolina's appealability statute, this interlocutory appeal from an order denying a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction should be allowed and the decision of the circuit court reversed.

**I. The Court of Appeals erred in finding that the underlying orders denying Petitioners' motions for lack of personal jurisdiction based on an absence of constitutional minimum contacts were not immediately appealable.**

**A. Interlocutory appeals are available when the order at issue affects a "substantial right."**

"An order affecting a substantial right" is immediately appealable if it "in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action." S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2). This Court has recognized that "by its nature, the question of whether an order is immediately appealable is determined on a case-by-case basis." *Stone v. Thompson*, 426 S.C. 291, 295, 826 S.E.2d 868, 870 (2019).

The availability of eventual appeal after trial is not dispositive of the issue of immediate appealability. For example, in *Hagood v. Sommerville*, 362 S.C. 191, 607 S.E.2d 707 (2005), the South Carolina Supreme Court found that an order disqualifying a party's counsel of their choice was an immediately appealable order. The respondent there argued any error could be corrected on appeal after final judgment. Yet the Supreme Court, looking to the reasoning of courts in other jurisdictions concerning the appealability of such an order, held that the order affected a substantial

right and should be immediately appealable, even though appeal after final judgment would be available. *Id.* at 197, 607 S.E.2d at 710.

Other South Carolina appellate cases also have allowed immediate appealability for orders that affected substantial rights. *See, e.g., Bateman v. Rouse*, 358 S.C. 667, 675, 596 S.E.2d 386, 390 (Ct. App. 2004) (finding that trial court erred by not allowing immediate appeal of an order denying a request for jury trial); *McLaughlin v. Strickland*, 279 S.C. 513, 516, 309 S.E.2d 787, 789–90 (Ct. App. 1983) (allowing immediate appeal of order denying father leave to withdraw his consent to adoption); *see also Keller v. Keller*, 296 S.C. 411, 373 S.E.2d 692 (Ct. App. 1988) (pre-*Midstate* case, which was not specifically overturned, permitting interlocutory appeal from an order denying a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction where the sufficiency of minimum contacts was at issue).

**B. Denial of a motion to dismiss based on the sufficiency of constitutional due process affects a “substantial right” and *Mid-State* should be modified to the extent it may be construed to say otherwise.**

Although the Court previously held in *Mid-State Distributors, Inc. v. Century Importers, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 330, 336, 426 S.E.2d 777, 781 (1993) that “the denial of a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(2), SCRCP, is interlocutory and not directly appealable,” Petitioners raised several arguments to the lower court that were not before the *Mid-State* court.

Importantly, in *Mid-State*, the Court’s opinion focused solely on the whether the subject order was sufficiently final such that it “involved the merits.” *See id.* at 336–37, 426 S.E.2d at 780–81. The Court ***did not*** expressly address whether a ruling that the defendant had sufficient minimum contacts to satisfy constitutional due process affects a substantial right.

In addition, *Mid-State* expressly overruled two prior cases to the extent they conflicted with the current definition of “involving the merits,” but ***did not*** expressly overrule *Keller v. Keller*,

296 S.C. 411, 373 S.E.2d 692 (Ct. App. 1988), which permitted an interlocutory appeal from an order denying a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction where the sufficiency of minimum contacts was at issue. Further, *Mid-State* came to the Court under an entirely different procedural posture from the present case.

Here—because of the substantial Due Process rights involved in requiring nonresident defendants to participate in the defense of a lawsuit when constitutional minimum contacts are lacking—this Court should make the same limited exception to the general rule barring immediate appeals of interlocutory orders.

**C. As it has done in the past, this Court should look to North Carolina cases on immediate appealability.**

South Carolina courts have frequently looked to North Carolina law for guidance in addressing whether an order is immediately appealable. *See, e.g., Hagood v. Sommerville*, 362 S.C. 191, 197, 607 S.E.2d 707, 710 (2005); *Shields v. Martin Marietta Corp.*, 303 S.C. 469, 470, 402 S.E.2d 482, 483 (1991); *Pocisk v. Sea Coast Constr. of Beaufort*, 589, 671 S.E.2d 98, 101 (Ct. App. 2008) (all looking to North Carolina case law on immediate appeal questions).

North Carolina’s appealability statute is similar to South Carolina’s and likewise permits interlocutory appeals of orders “affecting a substantial right.” *See* N.C. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 7A-27(b)(3). *See Bartlett v. Estate of Burke*, 877 S.E.2d 432 (N.C. Ct. App. 2022) (finding in a products liability case that denial of a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction affected a substantial right and was immediately appealable as it involved a question of minimum contacts); *Hardee ex rel. White v. Lowe’s Cos., Inc.*, 640 S.E.2d 445, at \*2 (N.C. Ct. App. 2007) (table) (“[A] substantial right exists where the interlocutory order denying a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction ‘raises questions concerning due process and minimum contacts.’ ”); *Love v. Moore*, 305 N.C. 575, 581, 291 S.E.2d 141, 146 (1982) (finding that allowing immediate appeal

only for “minimum contacts” jurisdictional question “ensures that parties who have less than ‘minimum contacts’ in this state will never be forced to trial against their wishes” and thus protects foreign defendants’ constitutional rights and promotes judicial economy). *Cf. Goldston v. American Motors Corp.*, 392 S.E.2d 735, 737–38 (N.C. 1990) (finding that interlocutory order disqualifying attorney involved a substantial right and was immediately appealable) (cited in *Hagood v. Sommerville*, 362 S.C. 191, 607 S.E.2d 707 (2005)).

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