**RECEIVED**

**Nov 14 2023**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM UNION COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-000853

---

Dwayne Thompson, ..... Respondent,

v.

LG Chem, Ltd., LG Chem America, Inc.,  
and Rolling Fog Vapor Company, LLC, .....Defendants,

Of whom, LG Chem, Ltd. and LG Chem America, Inc. are the..... Petitioners.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Ronnie L. Crosby  
Austin H. Crosby  
John E. Parker, Jr.  
PARKER LAW GROUP, LLP  
101 Mulberry Street East  
Hampton, SC 29924  
Phone: (803) 903-1781

AND

Alexander P. Lewis  
W. Blake Cummings

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

### **ARGUMENT**

**I. An order denying a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction is not immediately appealable under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2).**

The Court must dismiss this appeal for lack of appellate jurisdiction. The Constitution of South Carolina provides: “The Supreme Court shall constitute a court for the correction of errors at law under such regulations as the General Assembly may prescribe.” S.C. Const. Art. V § 5. The General Assembly has set forth the parameters of this Court’s appellate jurisdiction through its adoption of S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330.

Petitioners incorrectly contend that S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2) authorizes this interlocutory appeal of the Circuit Court’s denial of their Motions to Dismiss for

---

<sup>3</sup> The issue of service of process was not ruled on by the Circuit Court in its March 19, 2021 Order, was not raised to the Circuit Court in Petitioners’ Motions for Reconsideration, and is not preserved for review. (App. pp. 12-28, 1100-1144).

lack of personal jurisdiction. It does not. Section 14-3-330(2) grants the Court limited appellate jurisdiction over:

[O]rder[s] affecting a substantial right made in an action when such order (a) in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action, (b) grants or refuses a new trial or (c) strikes out an answer or any part thereof or any pleading in any action.

The jurisdictional inquiry under section 14-3-330(2) is two-pronged. *First*, the order must “affect[] a substantial right.” *Second*, the order must “in effect determine the action and prevent a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinue the action” or “grant or refuse a new trial” or “strike an answer or any pleading or part thereof.” For appellate jurisdiction to lie with this Court, *both* prongs must be satisfied. As set forth below, the Circuit Court Orders fail to satisfy either prong.

**A. Denial of a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction does not impair a substantial right.**

This Court made it clear in *Mid-State Distributors, Inc. v. Century Importers, Inc.*, that “[t]he denial of a motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction does not impair a substantial right” and so cannot give rise to appellate jurisdiction under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2). *See* 310 S.C. 330, 334 n.4, 426 S.E.2d 777, 780 n.4 (1993). Petitioners incorrectly argue that *Mid-State Distributors* “focused solely on the (sic) whether the subject order was sufficiently final such that it ‘involved the merits’”, as required to vest appellate jurisdiction under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(1). Pet. Brief, p. 9 (emphasis in original). Petitioners overlook the fact that the Court also addressed the viability of appellate jurisdiction under section 14-3-330(2):

It should be noted that § 14-3-330 also allows appeal from an order affecting a substantial right. This is when such order would discontinue an action, prevent an appeal, grant or refuse a new trial, or strike out an action or defense. ***The denial of a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction does not impair a substantial right.*** . . . On the present facts, [the defendant] has not lost a defense; and in fact, their defense will remain viable until there is a final order in the case.

*Mid-State Distributors, Inc.*, at 334 n.4, 426 S.E.2d at 780 n.4 (emphasis added).

Importantly, consistent with Rule 12(b)(2) and 12(h), SCRCF, the Court expressly recognized in *Mid-State Distributors*, that “lack of personal jurisdiction” is an affirmative defense that is “not lost” when it is denied, but “remains viable until there is a final order in the case.” *Id.* Thus, Petitioners are incorrect in their assertion that the Circuit Court’s denial of their Motions to Dismiss “affected a substantial right” and thereby vested this Court with appellate jurisdiction to hear this appeal.

Petitioners, ignoring the plain language of *Mid-State Distributors* and contending the Circuit Court’s denial of their Motions “based on the sufficiency of due process affect[ed] a ‘substantial right,’” conflate an affirmative defense with the due process concerns of the personal jurisdiction doctrine. Due process does not guarantee an individual the right to be free from litigation and its associated costs. The State has no power to compel an entity or individual to defend itself in a civil action and assume the associated costs and burdens of litigation; therefore, there is no substantial right to be free from a coercive power the State does not possess. Instead, the Due Process Clause only protects an individual’s liberty interest in being free from the forum state’s coercive power to bind him to an adverse final judgment in a forum “with which he has established no meaningful ‘contacts, ties, or relations.’”

*Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz*, 471 U.S. 462, 472, 105 S. Ct. 2174, 2181, 85 L. Ed. 2d 528 (1985); see *J. McIntyre Mach., Ltd. v. Nicastro*, 564 U.S. 873, 879-90, 131 S. Ct. 2780, 2786-87, 180 L. Ed. 2d 765 (2011). If personal jurisdiction does not in fact exist over Petitioners, then their substantial rights interest in not being subject to a binding judgment in a court of this state can be adequately protected by an appeal after final judgment, or even an earlier filed motion for summary judgment, and in fact the substantial right is not even implicated until after an adverse final judgment has been entered by the Circuit Court.

**B. Denial of a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction does not in effect determine the action and prevent a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinue the action.**

The second prong of the appellate jurisdictional inquiry requires that an order “in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action” or “grants or refuses a new trial” or “strikes out an answer or any part thereof or any pleading in any action.” S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2). The Orders at issue do not meet any of these criteria. The second prong is not superfluous; it is mandatory:

To bring the case within this second subdivision of Section 11, it must appear to be an order affecting a substantial right, made in an action, when such order in effect determines the action, and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken, and when such order grants or refuses a new trial. **It must therefore appear that the order in question is such as to prevent a judgment in an action.** The present order is not of that character. At most it affects the security of the plaintiff for the satisfaction of any judgment he may obtain, but does not preclude him from proceeding to judgment against the defendant.

*Allen v. Partlow*, 3 S.C. 417, 418 (1872) (emphasis added) (recognizing requirements for appellate jurisdiction under the statutory predecessor to S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330). “For the order to be appealable, it must not only affect a substantial right, but it must also in effect determine the action and prevent a judgment from which an appeal could be taken. . . .” *Garlington v. Copeland*, 25 S.C. 41, 43 (1886) (same).

Petitioners would have the Court ignore the entire second prong of section 14-3-330(2). *Mid-State Distributors* provides an explanation of why the subject Orders do not in effect determine the action by preventing an appeal or discontinuing the action:

Carlton has not arrived at the end of the road. **A party who is denied a dismissal under Rule 12 has forfeited nothing, they must simply continue to trial . . . .** If there is some further act which must be done by the court prior to a determination of the rights of the parties, then the order is interlocutory. If a judgment determines the applicable law while leaving open questions of fact, it is not a final judgment.

*Id.* at 334-35, 426 S.E.2d at 780 (citations omitted) (emphasis added). Therefore, according to this Court, the denial of Petitioners’ Motions did not in effect determine the action, prevent an appeal, or discontinue the action, as *Petitioners have forfeited nothing* and can raise their personal jurisdiction defenses again on a motion for summary judgment or at trial. Petitioners cannot satisfy their burden of proving that all the requirements of section 14-3-330(2) have been met, and consequently the Court does not have appellate jurisdiction.

Here, the subject Orders did not determine Respondent’s action, discontinue it, or prevent a final judgment from which Petitioners could appeal. Petitioners argue that due to the significance of the due process rights implicated by personal

jurisdiction, the Circuit Court's Orders eradicate their ability to seek meaningful redress by appeal – but this argument is directly contradicted by the Court's recognition in *Mid-State Distributors* that denial of a motion for lack of personal jurisdiction does not impair a substantial right, and that “lack of personal jurisdiction” is an affirmative defense that remains viable until entry of a final order in the case.

The logic of Petitioners' argument is not only unsound, it also wholly ignores the second prong of section 14-3-330(2). Under Petitioners' rationale, every interlocutory order affecting a “substantial right” would be immediately appealable, regardless of whether it in effect determined the action, prevents a final judgment, or discontinued the action. Interlocutory discovery orders affecting trade secrets, confidential private information, confidential business information, or involving expansive, costly discovery would be subject to the same logic, as would interlocutory orders involving jurisdictional issues such as service of process and sufficiency of process, privilege, and orders granting or denying motions to change venue. Such an interpretation of the statute would render its second prong superfluous, would open virtually all Rule 12(b) motions to immediate appeal, and would constitute legal error. *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cnty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011) (“In that vein, we must read the statute so that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous, for the General Assembly obviously intended the statute to have some efficacy, or the legislature would not have enacted it into law.”); (Supp. App. p. 35) (“The substantial-right doctrine is the

door through which many – if not most – interlocutory orders are appealed. Most of the appellate decisions highlighted in this Guide are based on the substantial-right doctrine”).

**C. Petitioners incorrectly argue this Court has granted immediate appeal of interlocutory orders based solely on the first prong of section 14-3-330(2).**

Petitioners refer to several South Carolina cases to convince the Court that immediate appeal is permissible based exclusively on an order affecting a “substantial right,” even when it does not satisfy the second prong of § 14-3-330(2). Petitioners incorrectly contend that *Hagood v. Sommerville*, 362 S.C. 191, 607 S.E.2d 707 (2005), is one instance in which the Court ignored the second prong to find that an interlocutory order was immediately appealable merely because it affected a substantial right.

In *Hagood*, the Court held that an order disqualifying a party’s counsel of choice affected a substantial right, satisfying the first prong of section 14-3-330(2). *Id.* at 197, 607 S.E.2d at 710. The Court then found that such an order *also* satisfied the second prong of the statute, stating that an appeal after final judgment following an order disqualifying a party’s counsel of choice would not adequately protect a party’s interests because it would be “impossible” for an appellate court to ascertain whether prejudice resulted from the lack of a preferred attorney, thus it was one of the “rare” orders which in effect could determine the action and prevent a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or could discontinue the action, due to the order’s impact on the attorney-client relationship. *Id.* at 197-98, 607 S.E.2d at 710.

In other words, such an order could have a determinative impact on the outcome of the litigation that could never be appealed by the litigant.

Petitioners also cite *Bateman v. Rouse*, 358 S.C. 667, 675, 596 S.E.2d 386, 390 (Ct. App. 2004), to support their argument that an order may be immediately appealable if it solely affects a substantial right. This is incorrect. In *Bateman*, the court ultimately found that the subject order denying a request for a jury trial involved the mode of trial and was therefore immediately appealable pursuant to this Court's holding in *Lester v. Dawson*, 327 S.C. 263, 491 S.E.2d 240 (1997). Notably, *Lester* leads to a line of cases holding that an order denying a request for a particular mode of trial is immediately appealable. This line of cases stretches back to *Alston v. Limehouse*, 61 S.C. 1, 39 S.E. 192 (1901). None of those cases purport to analyze the proposition that an order involving the mode of trial is immediately appealable under section 14-3-330(2) or any of its predecessors. Instead, they all make a blanket assertion that orders involving the mode of trial are immediately appealable as a matter of course.

In *McLaughlin v. Strickland*, 279 S.C. 513, 309 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1983), the Court of Appeals found a family court order denying a request for leave to file a late answer and permission to withdraw a signed consent to adoption affected a substantial right and foreclosed the litigant's ability to contest the case on the merits and was therefore immediately appealable, citing section 14-3-330 and *Ayer v. Chassereau*, 18 S.C. 597 (1882), without further explanation. *McLaughlin*, 279 S.C. at 516, 309 S.E.2d at 790. *Ayer* held that an order denying a motion for leave to file a

late answer and granting default judgment is immediately appealable. *Ayer*, 18 S.C. at 597. Therefore, both decisions stand for the proposition that an order preventing a defendant from contesting the merits determines or discontinues the action and is immediately appealable. *McLaughlin* and *Ayer* are distinguishable from this case because the subject Orders do not prevent Petitioners from contesting the merits of Thompson's claims.

Lastly, Petitioners rely on *Keller v. Keller*, 296 S.C. 411, 373 S.E.2d 692 (Ct. App. 1988), in which the Court of Appeals reviewed a family court order denying the appellant's motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. First, it is unclear whether the *Keller* order was immediately appealed or appealed after a final judgment. The decision does not address the immediate appealability of interlocutory orders or refer to section 14-3-330, indicating the order was not appealed until after a final order was entered, which explains why *Mid-State Distributors* did not overrule it. Thus, *Keller* is neither relevant nor helpful to this Appeal.

When read in detail, it is apparent that none of the authorities Petitioners cite support their argument that the second prong of section 14-3-330(2) can be ignored, or that an order is immediately appealable simply because it affects a substantial right.

**D. Ignoring section 14-3-330(2)'s second prong would violate the separation of powers doctrine.**

Petitioners encourage the Court to violate the separation of powers doctrine by ignoring the second prong of section 14-3-330(2), Article I, section 8 of the Constitution of South Carolina provides that "[i]n the government of this State, the

legislative, executive, and judicial powers of the government shall be forever separate and distinct from each other, and no person or persons exercising the functions of one of said departments shall assume or discharge the duties of any other.” The separation of powers mandate encompasses Article V, which preserves for the General Assembly the power to define the Court’s appellate jurisdiction in law cases. *See State ex rel. McLeod v. McInnis*, 278 S.C. 307, 312, 295 S.E.2d 633, 636 (1982).

The General Assembly has limited the Court’s appellate jurisdiction of interlocutory orders only to those orders (i) affecting a substantial right and (ii) effectively determining the action and preventing a judgment from which an appeal might be taken, discontinuing the action, granting or refusing a new trial, or striking an answer or pleading or any part thereof. S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2). Thus, an interlocutory order that does not meet these criteria is not within this Court’s appellate jurisdiction, and appellate review of such order would judicially expand the Court’s jurisdiction beyond the outer limits defined by the General Assembly.

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